FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/18/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99526-5-COURT OF APPEALS NO. 360016-III.

IN '	THE	SUPREME	COURT	\mathbf{OF}	THE	STATE	OF	WASHINGTON
------	-----	---------	-------	---------------	-----	-------	----	------------

JUAN JOSE HUEZO LUNA,

Petitioner,

٧.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JUAN JOSE HUEZO LUNA #405454 AIRWAY HEIGHTS CORRECTIONS CENTER PO BOX 2049 Airway heights, WA 99001

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Juan Jose Huezo Luna (hereinafter Mr. Huezo), petitioner herein, respectfully requests that this court review the entire decision of the Court of Appeals (Division III), a copy of which is attached as Appendix A. State v. Huezo, No. 36001-6-III. (Unpublished Opinion).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. Huezo was charged with Rape of a Child in the First Degree, and three counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree. The one count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and the first count of Child Molestation in the First Degree alleged aggravating circumstances of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse and breach of a position of trust. The second count of child molestation in the first degree alleged the aggravating circumstance of violation of a position of trust. Slip op. at 4. On January 30, 2018, the jury returned verdicts of guilty of rape of a child in the first degree and two counts of child molestation in the first degree, and found that the enhancements applied. Brief of Appellant at 5.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Huezo on Count One to 300 months; Count Two to 216 months; and Count Three to 180 months, each count running concurrently. Id.

Mr. Huezo timely appealed his convictions, arguing that the trial court erred when it (1) allowed the witnesses to provide written responses to the State's questions before the jury; and (2) excluded his request to present evidence of his sexual morality. Mr. Huezo also argued that there was insufficient evidence to convict him. BOA at 10-11. In his statement of Additional grounds

(SAG) brief, Mr. Huezo argued that the trial court abused its discretion when it allowed the prosecutor to — over defense counsel's objections — commit misconduct by violating the motion in limine and soliciting Mr. Huezo's opinion testimony on his accusers' credibility (SAG at 4-9); that the prosecutor committed misconduct by commenting on Mr. Huezo's right to remain silent and then used such silence to infer his guilt (SAG at 9-14); that that the prosecutor committed misconduct when it improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG at 14-17); that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial counsel failed to withdraw from the case, failed to cross-examine and impeach material witnesses, and also failed to move for dismissal of the charges (SAG at 17-30); and that cummulative error denied him a fair trial. SAG at 30-33.

Accordingly, the issues raised herein are as follows:

DOES THE LOWER COURT*S DECISION THAT MR. HUEZO PRESENTED THE COURT NO AUTHORITY THAT THE STATE MAY NOT QUESTION THE ACCUSED ABOUT THE VICTIM'S TRUTHFULNESS DISREGARD THE RECORD AND CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT MR. HUEZO'S TRAIT OF SEXUAL MORALITY
MUST BE PROVED BY TESTIMONY ABOUT HIS REPUTATION FORMED WITHIN A GENERALIZED
AND NEUTRAL COMMUNITY CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT, ALTHOUGH THE PROSECUTOR'S QUESTIONS AND CLOSING REMARKS INDIRECTLY CRITICIZED MR. HUEZO FOR REMAINING SILENT BEFORE TRIAL, THE QUESTIONS AND REMARKS DID NOT CONSTITUTE FLAGRANT OR PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT THE STATE DID NOT SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF ONTO MR. HUEZO CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT BREACH MR.

HUEZO*S CONFRONTATION RIGHTS WHEN IT ALLOWED MR. HUEZO'S ACCUSERS TO TESTIFY
VIA WRITTEN ANSWERS CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT MR. HUEZO DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

DOES THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION THAT THE COMBINED EFFECT OF THE ERRORS
DID NOT VIOLATE THE CUMMULATIVE ERROR DOCURINE CONFLICT WITH BINDING PRECEDENT?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of Mr. Huezo's alleged crimes and convictions are quoted from the lower court's decision below, and Mr. Huezo's SAG brief.

-FROM THE DECISION BELOW:

Juan Luna Ruezo is the stepfather of Tammy, born April 5, 2005, and Bonnie, born July 31, 2006, both pseudonyms. The girl's [sic] mother began dating Luna Huezo in November 2009 and married him in January 2010. Luna Huezo is more than two decades older than the girls.

At age nine, Tammy became the subject of sexual abuse by Juan Luna Huezo. Luna Huezo began sexually abusing Bonnie when she was eight years old.

Slip op. at 1-2.

FROM MR. HUEZO'S SAG BRIEF:

TAMMY'S STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT BEFORE TRIAL:

that Mr. Huezo had been sexually abusing her since she was nine years old; that at first he would put his finger in her hole to try and make it bigger; that he would put some sort of lubricant on his finger before he would touch her vagina; that he would tell her that she was too small; that as the sexual abuse progressed, he would put his penis in her vagina; that he would take her into his bedroom, lock the door, and place a blanket at the bottom of the door; that he would pull a little square package (either blue or red) from a Mario backpack, and then take something from the package and put it on his private and then use oil to make it go into her easier; that one time she was screaming so Mr. huezo put a zebra blanket into her mouth to silence her; that she was tied up with tape at her aunt's house; that Mr. Huezo tied her to a bar and vaginally penetrated her while her legs and arms were tied up; that she saw white stuff coming out of Mr. Huezo's penis; that Mr. Huezo would google people

having sex on his phone and show it to her; that Mr. Huezo would it tell her to smile like the girls in the video, and that this was a because she was usually crying; that there were times when she was gone with her mom and they would come back home and she would realize that mr. Huezo was sexually abusing her little sister; and that the last time Mr. Huezo abused her was about three days ago.

SAG Brief at 22.

FROM THE DECISION BELOW:

At trial, Tammy testified that Juan Luna Huezo sexually touched her on several occasions and in multiple locations in Kennewick, including at an appartment her family rented at the Hawaiin Village Apartments, at her family's home on Steptoe Street, at her aunt Niashia Morales Enriquez's residence, and in a vehicle. The sexual touching included Luna Huezo placing his hand on Tammy's private parts, placing his private parts against her body, and placing his penis inside her mouth.

Tammy further testified that Juan Luna Huezo tied her hands behind her back with duct tape. Luna Huezo obtained a condom from a blue and gray backpack in the bathroom and placed it on his penis. Luna Huezo also rubbed oil on his penis. During trial, Luna Huezo confirmed that he used condoms and oil when engaging in sexual activity.

According to Tammy, Juan Luna Huezo also sexually abused her sister. Once Tammy asked Luna Huezo whether he was "doing the same thing [to Bonnie]," and he responded that he was. Report of Proceedings (RP) at 271.

FROM MR. HUEZO'S SAG BRIEF:

BONNIE'S STATEMENTS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT BEFORE TRIAL:

That Mr. Huezo touched her on several occasions between the time she was 8 and 9 years old; that he would come into her room and touch her vagina over her clothes; that she remembered one time when he carried her to her room and took all of his clothes off (save for his boxers) and touched her vagina over her underwear; and that he told her that she was too small for him to put his penis in her, but he would once she was older.

SAG Brief at 25.

FROM THE DECISION BELOW:

Bonnie testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her private area once. Bonnie further testified that she witnessed Juan Luna Huezo touch Tammy's private parts while Tammy slept at the Steptoe house. Bonnie witnessed Luna Huezo take Tammy into his bedroom, at which time she heard Tammy crying.

On February 8, 2017, freends of eleven-year-old Tammy saw her crying during fifth grade music class. After speaking with Tammy, her friends informed their teacher about their concerns. Tammy's teacher then contacted Sarah McMullin, the school counselor, who spoke with Tammy.

Tammy and her ten-year-old sister, Bonnie, disclosed to Sarah McMullin that Juan Luna Huezo sexually abused them. McMullin contacted the Kennewick Police Department. On February 8, 2017, Maurin Midstingica forensic child interviewer at the Sexual advocacy Response Center, interviewed both children.

On the night of February, 8, 2017, Kennewick Police Department Detective Jose Santoy obtained warrants to search Tammy and Bonnie's home and the residence of their aunt, Niashia Morales Enriquez. Police found condoms, duct tape, zip ties, and a zebra blanket. Law enforcement neither preserved nor tested the blanket for DNA.

At some unidentified time, Dr. Shannon Phipps, later a trial witness, examined Tammy. Tammy was fearful and withdrawn while relating her habistorytho Dr. Phipps. Tammy informed the physician that "she [Tammy] was too small," such that Juan Luna Huezo's penis did not fit inside her. RP at 161. Dr. Phipps' found no physical abnormalities in Tammy.

PROCEDURE

The State of Washington charged Juan Luna Huezo with one count of rape of a child in the first degree for conduct involving Tammy and three counts of child molestation in the first degree, with one count involving Tammy and two counts involving Bonnie. The one count of rape of a child in the first degree alleged aggravating circumstances of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse and breach of a position of trust. The second count of child molestation in the first degreealleged the aggravating circumstance of a violation of a position of trust.

During a pretrial interview with defense counsel, Tammy disclosed that sexual contact imposed by Juan Luna Huezo occurred fifty-eight times at the Hawaiin Village apartment and that her mother was home on about thirty of the occasions. Tammy also disclosed that sexual contact occurred twenty times at Niashia Morales Enriquez's residence and thirty times at the Steptoe house.

Before trial, the trial court granted the State's motion in limine precluding a witness from assessing the credibility of another witness. Also at the beginning of trial, the court entertained the State's motion to exclude character and reputation evidence. Juan Luna Huezo

. .

intended to have four witnesses testify to his sexual morality and decency; his ex-spouse, Laura Martinez; his daughter, Alexis Huezo; and his two sisters-in-law, Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia Morales Enriquez. The trial court allowed Luna Huezo to present offers of proof before ruling on the State's motion to exclude the family member's testimony. During the offer of proof, Luna Huezo didinot ask Alexis Huezo questions regarding his reputation fortsexual morality. He conceded that he failed to establish a sufficient foundation for Nancy Morales Enriquez and Niashia Morales Enriquez to testify to his reputation in the community. The trial court denied any testimony from the four witnesses as to Luna Huezo's morality.

During her testimony, the State asked Tammy to describe Juan Luna Huezo's penis. Tammy did not respond. The State then asked Tammy whether she would prefer to write her answer, to which Tammy nodded affirmatively. Defense counsel objected to a written answer, but the trial court overruled the objection. Tammy's written answer read, "It was long and tiny hair." RP at 264. Defense counsel cross-examined Tammy, but did not question her about the one written answer.

During trial, Tammy did not testify to the number of times of sexual contact she earlier reported to defense counsel. Rather, she testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her privates one time at the Hawaiian Village apartment, put his penis against her vagina more than once at the Hawaiin Village apartment, and touched her vagina one time at Niashia Morales enriquez's residence.

Bonnie testified with difficulty during trial. Bonnie did not answer some questions and responded to other questions with "I don't know" or "I don't remember." RP at 216-44. Bonnie testified that Juan Luna Huezo touched her private part on one occasion.

Bonnie did not respond to a State's question of why she did not tell her mother about her stepfather's conduct. When she hesitated to answer, the State asked Bonnie to write her answer. The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection to a written answer. The court commented:

This child is 11 and has been on the stand since a little after 11 o'clock. It's now 11:28. This witness is clearly having a difficult time responding and answering to questions. . .

RP at 228. Bonnie wrote that she did not tell her mother because she thought her mother would not believe her.

When the State asked Bonnie why she did not inform her mother about Tammy's crying while being molested by Juan Luna Huezo, Bonnie replied that she was scared. When asked by the State why she was scared, Bonnie did not respond. Bonnie wrote her response over the defense's objection, The State showed Bonnie's response to the jury.

Our record does not include the response. Defense counsel chose not to cross-examine Bonnie.

During trial, the forensic child interviewer, Mauri Murstig, explained the concept of episodic memory versus script memory:

[A]sking a child who has experienced that [sexual abuse] for a long period of time, you know, they're not going to be able to give you an exact number that happened over months or years. And so, you know, what we try to do is just one time, more than one time and then try and get them to provide as many, you know, if there were specific times they could remember, specific episodes, we try to focus on that. But, you know, it's going to be impossible to have them describe every time something happened, if it happened, you know, over a long period of time.

RP at 132.

Dr. Shannon Phipps, D.O. testified about the physical examination she conducted on Tammy. The State's attorney questioned Phipps: "because you don't find any kind of physical manifestations in her body, does that mean no sexual abuse occurred?" RP at 154. Dr. Phipps answered:

No, it doesn't. The body is incredible for healing. And I would relate this back to the example that I gave between an acute and a non-acute visit.

If you're walking down the street and you twist your knee. You might have some swelling initially. If you go immediately for something, that might be perceived. Whereas if you wait three or four days, the swelling may have resolved, there may not be a physical finding yet the injury still occurred, so the body can heal.

RP at 154. Phipps averred that she would not expect to see tears or lesions in the vaginal area if a penis rubbed against the area, rather than entered the vagina. Finally, Dr. Phipps declared that "[i]t's more typical not to find findings than to find findings" in sexual assualt exams. RP at 161.

Kennewick Police Department Jose Santoy testified during trial. He explained the reason for not testing or preserving for evidence the zebra blanket.

[T]he blanket, like I said, it was in a general area of the bedroom and any of the children could have touched it, to include the defendant and the victims.

RP at 205. After resting its case at trial, the State dismissed

count 4, a child molestation charge involving Bonnie.

Juan Luna Huezo testified on his behalf. He denied any inappropriate sexual contact with either Tammy or Bonnie. During cross-examination, the State asked:

Isn't it true during that interview you told Detective Santoy that [Tammy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't that true?

RP at 401. On defense counsel's objection and the trial court's overruling the objection, the State proceeded to ask the question two more times, once about Tammy and once about Bonnie. The State also asked Luna Huezo about his comment about Tammy's hygiene issues the morning of his arrest:

This is the first we're hearing about all this; Isn't that true? RP at 399.

Trial defense counsel suffered the death of his niece during the t trial. In response to the niece's death, counsel stated that "a brief continuance would be sufficient" in order to ensure his effectiveness at trial. RP at 105. The trial court granted a one-day recess for counsel to rest before continuing with trial. On return from the one-day recess, trial counsel made no further mention of his need for additional continuances. Trial counsel had tragically lost three siblings to cancer in the thirteen months preceding his niece's death.

During summation, the State's attorney commented:

[Juan Luna Huezo] took the stand and he told you,...[t]hat there is also this thing that happened the morning of 2-8 where Tammy witnessed him pulling Bonnie's hair....And something about Tammy not wiping herself.

You know what's interest? Think about this.

No question was ever asked of Kelly about any of that. Huh. Don't you think that's weird? No question was asked of Bonnie about any of that. None of that was mentioned in opening statement. Why is that? Because it only came in through him. Nobody else was asked about any of that. Think about that. Why? Because it's not true.

RP at 463-64. The prosecuting attorney added:

He [Juan Luna Huezo] waited an entire year to now tell his side. Didn't tell it that day. Maybe he's had some time to think about it.

RP at 464.

The jury found Juan Luna Huezo guilty on all three counts and further found the presence of the aggravating circumstances.

Slip op. at 2-9.

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this court where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals or the Supreme Court, raises a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitution, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. This petition meets the first criteria.

(a) THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH BINDING PRECEDENT PRECLUDING A A WITNESS FROM TESTIFYING ABOUT THE CREDIBILITY OF ANOTHER WITNESS.

In <u>State v. Suarez-Bravo</u>, 72 Wn.App. 359, 864 P.2d 426 (1994), the court established the precept that a witness may not testify about the credibility of another witness. <u>Id</u>. at 366. In <u>State v. Demery</u>, 144 Wn.2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001), the court solidified the rule that no witness may offer testimony in the form of an opinion regarding the guilt of a defendant, for such testimony is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant because it invades the exclusive province of the jury. Id. at 759.

Mr. Huezo was tried for allegedly sexually assaulting his two stepdaught...
ers (Tammy & Bonnie), who were the only witnesses to his alleged misconduct.
There was no physical evidence of his guilt. Mr. Huezo denied the accusations and steadfastly maintained his innocence. SAG Brief at 4-5.

Before the trial, the State filed a motion in limine and argued therein to exclude the testimony of Tammy and Bonnie's mother, insofar as she intended to testify that she did not believe the allegations her daughters were making against Mr. Huezo. The State argued that credibility determinations were for the

jury. On the day of trial, the State renewed its motion in limine argument and stated that "the only people that can judge the credibility of any witnesses in this case are the ladies and gentleman of the jury," and then proceeded to ine form the court:

"So any type of testimony that the defense intends to elicit from witnesses regarding their belief of one witness or another, the State, of course, would adamantly object to.

"Whereas the same goes for the State. And the State of Washington can't ask the police officers whether they believe the children. The State can't ask the child forensic interviewer if they believe the children. Finally, the State can't ask the mother do you believe the children. And it goes to both sides. And I would ask that any type of testimony that would be elicited from...Kelly Huezo... would be excluded as well."

SAG Brief at 4-5. The trial court agreed with the State and granted the motion in limine, stating that it was absolutely improper for one witness to get on the stand and say I believe this other witness, noting that credibility determinations are to be decided by the jury. SAG at 6. But during the cross-examination of Mr. Muezo, the State posed questions to him that were designed to elicit opinion testimony about Tammy & Bonnie's credibility:

PROSECUTOR:

"Isn't it true during the interview you told Detective Santoy that [Tammy] would never lie about anything this serious; isn't that is true?"

Over defense counsel's objections, the trial court permitted the State to pose the question to Mr. Huezo two more times in front of the jury. SAG at 6-7.

In <u>State v. Stith</u>, 71 Wn.App. 14, 856 P.2d 415 (1993), the Court held that cross-examination designed to compel a witness to express an opinion as to whether other witnesses were lying constitutes misconduct. <u>Id</u>. at 18. Here, the trial court allowed the prosecutor, on cross-examination, to question Mr. Huezo

in such a manner so as to make it appear that he was vouching for Tammy and Bonnie's credibility; this despite the fact that he was maintaining his innog: cense.

In fine, the impermissible opinion testimony elicited by the State bore directly on Mr. Huezo's defense and therefore his guilt, and thereby violated Mr. Huezo's constitutional right to a jury trial under the U.S. Costitution, amendment VI, including the independent determination of the facts by the jury. Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759 ("impermissible opinion testimony regarding the defendant's guilt may be reversible error because admitting such evidence violates [the defendant's] constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independant determination of the facts by the jury.").

The decision below states that Mr. Huezo "presents the court no authority that the State may not question the accused about statements he uttered to another regarding the truthfulness of the victim." Slip op. at 21.

This finding not only overlooks the authorities Mr. Huezo cited above for the proposition that it was prejudicially improper for the State to elicit his opinion testimony about Tammy and Bonnie's credibility, but such finding also conflicts with these same authorities. Perhaps recognizing this, the lower court proceeded to state:

"Regardless, we find no prejudice in the questions and answer because of the overwhelming evidence, including circumstantial evidence, of the crimes and Luna Huezo's concession to Tammy of the abuse of Bonnie."

Slip op. at 21. But our Supreme Court has said that the very act of a witness offering testimony in the form of an opinion regarding the guilt of a defendant is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant, for it invades the province of the jury. Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759. In granting the State's motion in limine,

the trial court essentially agreed with this precept, as idid the State when it argued the motion in limine.

Assuming arguendo that the improper questioning of Mr. Huezo about the credibility of both Tammy and Bonnie (his accusers) aws not per se prejudicial, the totality of the circumstances of the case demonstrate prejudice to Mr. Huezo.

Mr. Huezo was being tried for sexually assaulting Tammy and Bonnie, the only witnesses to the alleged abuse. The State's doctor uncovered no physical evidence of sexual assault. The State failed to preserve and conduct DNA testing of a blanket that Mr. Huezo was accused of using to silence Tammy during an alleged incident of sexual assault, and that would have been potentially useful to undermine Tammy's overall credibility.

Moreover, the State extensively commented on Mr. Huezo's right to remain silent and used his silence as substantive evidence of guilt, while Mr. Huezo's attorney also failed to cross-examine Bonnie despite having a prior inconsistent statement that was materially different than her new-and-improved trial testimony. SAG at 21. Mr. Huezo's attorney also failed to impeach Tammy with her prior inconsistent statement that was materially different than her trial testimony. Finally, the State improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG at 14-17), while the trial court prevented Mr. Huezo from presenting evidence of his sexual morality.

It is against this backdrop of prejudicial errors and ineffective assistance of counsel that the lower court ought to have weighed the overall prejudicial impact on Mr. Huezo's right to a fair trial, but instead the lower court
overlooked all of the same and simply found that there was overwhelming evidence
of Mr. Huezo's criminal acts and, accordingly, found that the State's impermissi-

ble acts of eliciting Mr. Huezo's opinion testimony on his own accusers' credibility was not prejudicial.

The trial court abused its discretion when it permitted prosecutorial misconduct by allowing the State to repeatedly elicit opinion testimony from Mr. Huezo that put Mr. Huezo in the incredible position of vouching for the credibility of his accusers while, at the same time, maintaining that he was innocent of his accusers' allegations.

Mr. Huezo ought toobe granted a new trial for the decision below con-difficts with binding precedent supporting Mr. Huezo's argument that the trial court's decision allowing the prosecutorial misconduct significantly prejudiced Mr. Huezo's right to a fair trial under both the Washington State and U.S. Constitutions (Amendment VI).

(b) THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH BINDING PRECEDENT ESTABLISHING THAT THE STATE'S DECISION TO USE MR. HUEZO'S SILENCE AS SUBSTANTIVE EVIDENCE OF HIS GUILT WAS PREJUDICIAL, FLAGRANT & ILL-INTENTIONED.

Here, the prosecutor — during cross—examination, recross examination, and during closing arguments, extensively commented on Mr. Huezo's right to remain silent and used his silence against him as substantive evidence of his guilt. SAG 9-14. The decision below conceded that the prosecutor indirectly criticized Mr. Huezo for remaining silent before his trial, but found that the prosecutor's misconduct was not prejudicial or flagrant given the overwhelming evidence of guilt. Slip op. at 21-22.

There must be a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury verdict in order to establish prejudice. In re Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). In State v. Pinson, the court found that the State committed prejudicial misconduct where "The State essentially asked the jury to find that Pinson's silence was an admission of guilt, and argued that such an admiss-

ion was sufficient to convict him." Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 420.

As the decision below reflects, the State's misconduct here is not substantively different than the State's conduct in <u>Pinson</u>: the State essentially asked the jury to find that Mr. Huezo's silence was substantive evidence of his guilt since he elected not to tell his side of the story to Detective Santoy, but instead waited until trial to tell it.

Hence Mr. Huezo has met his burden of demonstrating prejudice, and the decision below conflicts with both <u>Pinson</u> and <u>Glasmann</u>, supra, a conflict the lower court justifies by claiming that the record contains overwhelming evidence of Mr. Huezo's guilt. Slip op. at 21-22.

But as Mr. Huezo has pointed out above (See page 12, supra), and incorporates by reference, his trial was plagued with prejudicial errors and ineffective assistance of counsel that; under the cummulative error doctrine, denied him his right to a fair trial. Mr. Huezo's trial was essentially a credibility contest: who would the jury believe, Mr. Huezo or Tammy & Bonnie?

This being the essential nature of Mr. Huezo's trial, it is untenable for the lower court to find that Mr. Huezo did not show that the State's use of his silence was prejudicial, especially in light of the fact that (1) the State solicited Mr. Huezo's opinion testimony on his accusers' credibility (SAG 4-9); (2) the State improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG at 14-17); and (3) Mr. Huezo's attorney failed to respectively cross-examine and impeach Bonnie and Tammy with their prior inconsistent statements that were materially different than their respective trial testimony, and thereby let their credibility go uncontested. SAG at 20-27.

Finally, although the lower court's decision recognized that the State indirectly criticized Mr. Huezo for remaing silent before trial, it did not

find the State's conduct flagrant. Slip op. at 21-22. But the record shows that the prosecutor executed a deliberate and methodical plan to have the jury use Mr. Huezo's right to remain silent against him as substantive evidence of guilt: the State questioned him during cross-examination, then during recross, and then told the jury during closing:

"The purpose of an interview, for them to give you, your side of the story?

"That wasn't true. He waited an entire year to now tell his side. Didn't tell it that day. Maybe he's had some time to think about it."

SAG at 14. The prosecutor knew that the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and the Washington State Constitution forbade it from compelling Mr. Huezo from being a witness against himself. State v. Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 416; Id. at 416-17. The prosecutor also knew that it could not use Mr. Huezo's silence as evidence of substantive guilt. Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 217; State v. Knapp, 148 Wn.App. 414, 420, 199 P.3d 505 (2009). The prosecutor also knew that it would be improper to make a closing argument that encouraged the jury to infer guilt from Mr. Huezo's silence. Pinson, 183 Wn.App. at 417; Burke, 163 Wn.2d at 216-17. Nevertheless, the prosecutor used Mr. Huezo's silence against him; this constitutes ill-intention.

Moreover, the prosecutor took Mr. Huezo's trial testimony, wherein he intended to show the jury that his eldest stepdaughter had a motive to get him into trouble, and flagrantly misused it to excite and implicitly invite the jury to find him guilty because he didn't tell his story to the police. The prosecutor knew that Mr. Huezo's jury, like all juries, was biased in the sense that it believed that the police are the good guys that no innocent person should be hesitant to talk to.

Nevertheless, the prosecutor encouraged the jury to feed its inherent prejudices and infer Mr. Huezo's guilt because he exercised his constitutional right to refuse to tell his story to the police. This was not done in a vacuum, but was committed in the context of a trial wherein (1) the prosecutor also committed misconduct by violating the motion in limine and solicited Mr. Huezo's opinion testimony on his accusers' credibility (SAG 4-9); (2) the prosecutor committed misconduct when it improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Mr. Huezo (SAG at 14-17); (3) the State unilaterally decided not to preserve a blanket that was potentially useful to Mr. Huezo's defense (SAG at 27-30); (4) Mr. Huezo's attorney deficiently performed by refusing to cross-examine and impeach Bonnie, and by refusing to adequately cross-examine and impeach Tammy with her prior inconsistents and medical findings (SAG at 20-27); and (5) two young girls' testimony, regardless of their veracity, undoubtedly invoked the jury's sympathy.

In light of this record and the circumstances at trial, the prosecutor's use of Mr. Huezo's silence against him was both ill-intentioned and flagrant, and therefore was not amenable to curative instructions. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762-63, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)(holding that certain comments calculated to inflame the passions of the jury are not amenable to curative instructions). And this is because:

Where evidence is admitted which is inherently prejudicial and of such a nature as to be most likely to impress itself upon the minds of the jurrors, a subsequent withdrawal of the evidence, even when accompanied by an instruction to disregard, cannot logically be said to remove the prejudicial impression.

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