FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/26/2021 2:56 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99526-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JUAN JOSE LUNA HUEZO, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Brendan M. Siefken Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 41219 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The defendant fails to identify a decision that prohibits the State from questioning him about a prior inconsistent statement made to law enforcement.

Prior to trial, the defendant provided a statement to law enforcement in which he told law enforcement that the victims would not lie about something serious. At trial, the defendant was then questioned about his prior statement to law enforcement regarding the veracity of the victims. The defendant's prior statement to law enforcement was obviously used as impeachment evidence. The defendant placed his credibility under scrutiny when he decided to testify and therefore a prior inconsistent statement would be admissible to fully weigh his veracity while on the stand. In a similar case, the Court of Appeals found that it was not error to allow a deputy sheriff to testify that the defendant had previously stated that he didn't believe his children would lie. *State v*.

Lopez, 95 Wn. App. 842, 856, 980 P.2d 224, 231 (1999). The defendant cites no case that prohibits this line of questioning. The Court of Appeals did not err when it found no error or prejudice based on the questions.

B. The defendant fails to identify a decision that allows witnesses to testify regarding the defendant's sexual moral character without first laying the proper and necessary foundation.

It is apparent that the defendant does not understand the concept of foundation as a requisite for admissible character testimony under ER 404(a)(1). It is also readily apparent that the defendant does not understand the holdings of *Woods* and *Griswold*. The defendant provides no authority other than those decisions that rejected the same evidence that he now claims was rejected in error by the Court of Appeals. It is the defendant and not the Court of Appeals who fails to comprehend the holdings of those prior cases.

C. The defendant fails to identify a decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the prosecutor's questioning and comments on the defendant's testimony and his right to remain silent.

It is clear from the record that the defendant spoke to law enforcement during the investigation of the allegations against the defendant. During that conversation the defendant told law enforcement that the victims would not lie about something serious. When the defendant took the witness stand, he provided information that he had

never previously discussed. The Court of Appeals held that State's questions regarding this apparent new information was an indirect criticism of his right to remain silent but found that it was not prejudicial because of the overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. The defendant does not cite any case that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision finding that any misconduct by the prosecutor in this case was not flagrant or prejudicial.

D. The defendant fails to identify a decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the defendant's allegation of burden shifting.

The defendant fails to cite a case that conflicts with the Court of Appeals holding that the State did not improperly shift the burden to the defendant. At trial, the prosecutor attacked the defendant's credibility by pointing out that his testimony was not corroborated by any other witness. As the Court of Appeals correctly held, the argument was appropriate under the facts and evidence presented at trial.

E. The defendant fails to identity a decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the confrontation of witnesses and allowing a witness to write an answer to a question.

The defendant fails to adequately explain how the process of providing written answers to questions actually limits the scope of cross-examination and also fails to provide any decision that contradicts the

Court of Appeals decision below. The defendant cites to *State v. Garcia* but apparently fails to understand the precedential value of that decision. *State v. Garcia*, 179 Wn.2d 828, 844, 318 P.3d 266, 275 (2014). In that case the court found that the trial court committed error when it restricted the defense from cross-examining a witness about statements made by the defendant. The Court found that the excluded statements were being offered to show the defendant's state of mind and therefore should have been allowed. In the present case, the defendant fails to show that any restrictions were placed on the cross examination of the victims.

F. The defendant fails to identify a decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The defendant fails to identify a decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision and simply makes the same arguments that were rejected by the Court of Appeals. The defendant does not cite to a decision in conflict because one does not exist. The defendant can point to nothing in the record to support his allegations of ineffective counsel other than trial strategies which courts view with great deference.

G. The defendant identifies no decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision regarding the claim of cumulative error.

Again, the defendant simply does not agree with the decision of the Court of Appeals and recycles the prior argument without citing to a

decision that conflicts with the decision of the Court of Appeals. There were few if any errors and the cumulative error doctrine does not apply to the defendant's case.

V. CONCLUSION

The defendant fails to provide any binding decision that conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision and accordingly, the petitioner for review should be denied.